International Journal of Plant Developmental Biology ©2007 Global Science Books



## Developmental Studies in the Christmas Rose (Helleborus niger L.)

## Branka Salopek-Sondi\* • Volker Magnus

Rudjer Bošković Institute, Bijenička cesta 54, P.O.Box 180, 10002 Zagreb, Croatia Corresponding author: \* salopek@irb.hr

### ABSTRACT

The Christmas rose (*Helleborus niger* L.) is a herbaceous, winter-green, perennial native to Southern Europe, which is also widely grown as an ornamental. In mild winters, the flowers may indeed appear at Christmas time, resembling wild roses with respect to size and color (white to pink). Reproductive development in the Christmas rose is characterized by an interesting aspect, uncommon in the world of flowering plants: after pollination and fertilization, the perianth develops a photosynthetic apparatus, and persists during fruit development. Unpollinated or depistillated flowers survive almost as long as their fruit-bearing neighbors, but do not pass through the complete greening process. Removal of the gynoecium also affects the shape of the flower and the length of the flower scape. The correlative signals which normally trigger and maintain these morphogenetic processes appear to include plant hormones synthesized in the developing fruit. Because of the size of its flowers, their long lifespan, and the changes induced by fruit development and maturation, the Christmas rose could become a useful research model for disentangling some of the complex interactions between developing seeds and the mother plant.

Keywords: cytokinin, gibberellin, flower morphogenesis, perianth greening, photosynthesis, plant growth regulator, plastid metamorphosis, source-sink relationship

Abbreviations: BA,  $N^6$ -benzyladenine; 4-CI-IAA, 4-chloroindole-3-acetic acid; DZ, dihydrozeatin; DZ9G, dihydrozeatin 9-glucoside; DZR, dihydrozeatin riboside; DZRMP, dihydrozeatin riboside-5'-monophosphate; f. wt., fresh weight; GA<sub>x</sub>, gibberellin A<sub>x</sub> (x = 1, 3, 4 or 7); HPLC, high-performance liquid chromatography; iP,  $N^6$ -( $\Delta^2$ -isopentenyl)adenine; iPR,  $N^6$ -( $\Delta^2$ -isopentenyl)adenine riboside *alias*  $N^6$ -( $\Delta^2$ -isopentenyl)adenosine; IAA, indole-3-acetic acid; iPRMP,  $N^6$ -( $\Delta^2$ -isopentenyl)adenine riboside-5'-monophosphate *alias*  $N^6$ -( $\Delta^2$ -isopentenyl)adenosine; JAA, indole-3-acetic acid; iPRMP,  $N^6$ -( $\Delta^2$ -isopentenyl)adenine riboside; ZRMP, *trans*-zeatin riboside; ZRMP, *trans*-zeatin riboside-5'-monophosphate

## CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	151
BOTANICAL BACKGROUND	
THE LIFE CYCLE OF A CHRISTMAS ROSE FLOWER	
THE STRUCTURAL AND FUNCTIONAL METAMORPHOSIS OF THE SEPALS	153
IS PHOTOSYNTHETIC ACTIVITY IN CHRISTMAS ROSE SEPALS REQUIRED FOR NORMAL SEED DEVELOPMENT?	154
IS FLORAL PHOTOSYNTHESIS IN THE CHRISTMAS ROSE 'SINK- REGULATED'?	155
CAN PLANT HORMONE TREATMENT SUBSTITUTE FOR THE ROLE OF DEVELOPING CHRISTMAS ROSE FRUIT?	155
ENDOGENOUS PHYTOHORMONES	156
Cytokinins	156
Gibberellins	
THE CHRISTMAS ROSE AS A MODEL PLANT	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	158
REFERENCES	158

## INTRODUCTION

The Christmas rose (*Helleborus niger* L.) (Fig. 1) has, for centuries, played a role in folklore and herbal medicine (Damboldt and Zimmermann 1965; Mathew 1989). It has, thus, long been grown in gardens and has locally become naturalized far north of its original range. The plant is also of interest to physiologists because the flowers turn green, after fertilization, and the perianth survives until seed ripening. This happens in a number of other species, as well; examples studied in detail include a number of orchids (van Doorn 1997) and the dicots *Chrysosplenium alternifolium* L., *C. oppositifolium* L. (Sitte 1974), and *Nuphar luteum* Sibth. *et* Sm. (Grönegress 1974). In the araceans *Spathi*-

*phyllum wallisii* Regel (Palandri 1967), *Zantedeschia aethiopica* Spreng. (Pais 1972; Chaves das Neves and Pais 1980a, 1980b) and *Z. elliotiana* Engl. (Grönegress 1974), it is the brightly colored spathe that turns green after anthesis. Within the above group of species, the Christmas rose with its large flowers is particularly suitable for experimental work. Also, photosynthesis in its greening perianth may substantially contribute to seed filling, because leaves are frequently absent, or not fully operational, during fruit ripening.

In most flowers, the perianth senesces and is subject to abscission, once it has played its part in the attraction of pollinators (Weiss 1991; O'Neill 1997; van Doorn 1997; van Doorn and Stead 1997). This highly regulated process involves complex structural and biochemical changes (Or-

Received: 22 February, 2007. Accepted: 22 March, 2007.



Fig. 1 Characteristic developmental stages in the life cycle of a Christmas rose flower: bud about ready to open (A), anthesis, female phase (B), anthesis, male phase (C), initial perianth greening (D), advanced perianth greening (E), two to three weeks before seed ripening (F).

záez and Granell 1997; Xu and Hanson 2000; Wagstaff *et al.* 2002; Thomas *et al.* 2003; van Doorn and Woltering 2004, 2005; Rogers 2006) and is orchestrated by plant growth regulators (Panavas *et al.* 1998; Rubinstein 2000; Wu and Cheung 2000), among which ethylene plays the first violin (Ketsa and Rugkong 1999; Orzáez *et al.* 1999; van Doorn 2002a, 2002b). The developmental mechanisms in species with a surviving perianth may reasonably be expected to be equally complex, but have so far received little attention. Here we summarize the results so far obtained studying post-anthesis development in the Christmas rose.

### **BOTANICAL BACKGROUND**

Helleborus (Ranunculaceae) is a genus of spring-flowering perennials inhabiting Central and Southern Europe and the adjacent parts of Asia; one isolated species occurs in Central China (Mathew 1989). All taxonomic studies which have so far appeared were complicated by variability within, and hybridization between, species. Schiffner (1891), in his classical monograph of the genus, distinguished 17 species. In a recent revision of Helleborus classification, Mathew (1989) recognized 15 species, but admitted that the boundaries between some taxa are likely to remain a subject of never-ending dispute. Lately, a somewhat extended list of species has been advocated (Sun et al. 2001; McLewin and Mathew 2002; McLewin et al. 2006). The species H. niger L. is one of the few listed by most contemporary authors. The views on its evolutionary history experienced an interesting twist, when recent results on interspecific hybridization (Mathew 1989), nuclear DNA mass (Zonneveld 2001), shoot and seed morphology (Werner and Ebel 1994), ecdysteroid content (Dinan *et al.* 2002) and characteristic DNA sequences (Sun et al. 2001) indicated strong phylogenetic ties to H. argutifolius Viv. and H. lividus Aiton both of which look very different, with their elongated leafy stems topped by clusters of small greenish flowers. The relationship to other *Helleborus* species with basal leaves and large, showy flowers is, unexpectedly, not quite as close.

*H. niger* is indigenous to the Alps and nearby mountain ranges, preferentially on limestone or dolomite (Damboldt and Zimmermann 1965; Mathew 1989). It is a shade-loving species, but not necessarily restricted to dense woodlands. An easily accessible, detailed description may, for instance, be found in the book «The Gardener's Guide to growing

Hellebores» by Rice and Strangman (1993). In brief, the plant is a herbaceous perennial with overwintering, pedately divided, basal leaves and, usually single, flowers carried on fleshy scapes which may reach up to 30 cm in height. The fully open flowers are most frequently 6-9 cm in diameter, but may easily reach 12-13 cm, not only in horticultural varieties (Rice and Strangman 1993), but also in some wildgrowing Croatian populations (Šušek et al. 2005). The, usually five, showy elements of the Christmas rose perianth are mostly classified as sepals (Damboldt and Zimmermann 1965). They may be bluntly acuminate, rounded, or even emarginate, and their edges may, or may not, overlap, resulting in a diverse population of starry and saucer-shaped flowers in white or various shades of pink (Ravnik 1969). The whorl of sepals is followed by a ring of shortly stalked, yellowish-greenish nectaries (modified petals), a multitude of stamens, and a cluster of four to ten (most frequently five) multiovular carpels.

*H. niger* is a variable taxon, but only two subspecies are generally recognized (Schiffner 1891; Damboldt and Zimmermann 1965; Mathew 1989; Rice and Strangman 1993):

a) The ssp. *niger* occupies most of the range. It is most reliably identified by the shape of the leaf divisions, which are obovate to asymmetrically rhombic, widest in the distal half, and frequently edged by a few *coarse* teeth towards the tip. The plants used in the experiments described here were collected, at an altitude of 800 m, in the 'Gorski kotar' region, in an area covered by mixed forests dominated by beech (*Fagus silvatica* L.), fir (*Abies alba* L.), and spruce (*Picea abies* L.). At that locality, the soil accessible to *Helleborus* roots showed a pH of 6.1 (determined in 1 M KCl), and contained 7.20% of humus and the following macronutrients (in mg/100 g): N, 370; phosphorus as  $P_2O_5$ , 1.83; potassium as  $K_2O$ , 22.00.

b) The ssp. *macranthus* (Freyn) Schiffner has its center of distribution in Northern Italy (Mathew 1998). Schiffner (1891) also listed a number of reports for Slovenia and Croatia, which were later interpreted to mean that most, if not all, indigenous Christmas rose populations in Croatia belong to that subspecies (Martinis 1973). However, the above reports quoted in Schiffner's 1891 monograph predate his own definition of the ssp. *macranthus* (first proposed in this very monograph) and can thus not be uncritically accepted. Moreover, a number of morphological attributes (leaf color, size and shape of the sepals, length of the styles) originally



Fig. 2 Growth kinetics of a typical Christmas rose flower from the early bud stage until three weeks before seed ripening. The parameters monitored were: the length of the scape (circles), bud length (squares), sepal length (triangles), the angle enclosed by opposite sepals (diamonds), and pistil length (stars). Sepal length was determined starting at anthesis. The color of the sepals is noted above the respective data points (g, green; lg, light green; no comment, white). Measurements were taken on a potted plant of commercial origin kept on a balcony, starting February 05, 2002.

thought to characterize the ssp. *macranthus* were later found to reflect environmental impact and, likely, random genetic variability (Ravnik 1969; Šušek *et al.* 2005). What appears to be invariant is the shape of the leaf segments (broadly lanceolate, near-symmetrically tapering towards both the proximal and the distal end, edged all around with *tiny sharp* teeth). The leaves of the plants used in our experiments clearly identified them as representatives of the ssp. *niger*.

# THE LIFE CYCLE OF A CHRISTMAS ROSE FLOWER

Fig. 1 shows six characteristic stages in the life cycle of a typical Christmas rose flower. In the population we used in our experiments, the sepals were mostly pure white in the bud (Fig. 1A) and at anthesis (Fig. 1B, C) with only an occasional flush of pink on the outside. The proterogynous flowers first passed through their female phase (Fig. 1B) during which the stigmata were receptive, the immature anthers were arranged in a ring at the base of the cluster of carpels, and the nectaries were erect (i.e. parallel to the carpels). The male phase (Fig. 1C) began with the elongation of the filaments, while the nectaries moved into the plain of the sepals; it ended with abortion of both the anthers and the nectaries. After pollination, the sepals first turned yellowish-greenish (Fig. 1D), then bright green (Fig. 1E), and maintained this color until shortly before seed shedding (Fig. 1F).

Depending on temperature, snow cover and, possibly, genetic background, the developmental sequence shown in **Fig. 1** may start at any time, from late November to mid April. The seeds generally mature by May, or maybe June at the highest altitudes (around 1500 m). The developmental stages mentioned in this article could thus not be defined on an absolute time scale. Instead, we resorted to changes in the overall appearance of the flower and to a number of morphological parameters, such as the lengths and weights of the sepals and fruit clusters and the length of the flower scape (Salopek-Sondi *et al.* 2002; Tarkowski *et al.* 2006).

How some of those, or related, parameters changed during flower development is illustrated in **Fig. 2**. When the bud appeared above ground, it was already 10-15 mm long. Its size thus increased only about twice before unfolding. Simultaneously, the flower scape grew at a much faster rate to attain its final length shortly after anthesis. The sepals appeared to elongate at bud opening, but there was little expansion afterwards. They spread gradually; the flowers thus tended to be bell-shaped, during the female phase, flattening to the shape of a saucer, or a flat bowl, as anthesis proceeded and fruit development was initiated.

For the purpose of the experiments described herein, we defined the female phase of Christmas rose flowers to last

from bud opening to beginning anther elongation. This was assumed to include the period of stigma receptivity, as was explicitly shown to be the case in the related species, H. foetidus L. and H. bocconei Ten., under average field conditions (Vesprini and Pacini 2005). However, when insect visits were excluded (simulating extended periods of cold and/or rainy weather when insects cannot fly) the stigmata could remain receptive for weeks (always depending on ambient temperature - see Vesprini and Pacini 2005 for details), well into the period of pollen shedding. Under these circumstances, autonomous self-pollination afforded 0.5-34% (depending on the population investigated) of the fruit-set observed in neighboring insect-exposed plants (Vesprini and Pacini 2000; Herrera et al. 2001). Christmas rose flowers were definitely cross-pollinated by bees and bumble bees, even on mild January days, if any. On the other hand, in springs following long and cold winters, some of the flowers emerging from the melting snow-cover bore ripening fruit. This was likely a consequence of autonomous self-pollination, because apomixis has so far not been observed in Helleborus (Vesprini and Pacini 2000).

## THE STRUCTURAL AND FUNCTIONAL METAMORPHOSIS OF THE SEPALS

Following anthesis, the sepals lose their tender softness to become firm and more leaf-like in appearance, while their overall weight increases by 10-20%. This is mainly due to expansion of the preexisting cells and, even more so, of the intercellular spaces (Salopek-Sondi *et al.* 2002). The interior of a sepal thus takes on the appearance of the spongy mesophyll in a typical leaf, while the cells of the epidermis develop thickened outer walls.

In the perianth at anthesis, only the guard cells of the stomates contain chloroplasts. When the anthers abscise, the leucoplasts in the mesophyll-like tissue of the sepals develop a network of thylakoids and gradually attain the ultrastructure of photosynthetically active chloroplasts. The amount of photosynthetic pigments accumulating in the perianth appears to be under environmental and genetic control. In the material used in our experiments, chlorophyll,  $\beta$ carotene, and xanthophyll levels increased from barely measurable concentrations to 350, 10, and 65  $\mu$ g/g fresh weight (Fig. 3), which corresponded to one-third to one-fourth (chlorophylls and xanthophylls) to one-fifth (β-carotene) of the values found in mature leaves (Salopek-Sondi et al. 2000, 2002). These relationships were confirmed by Aschan et al. (2005), who likewise noticed variability depending on the origin of the plant material. The latter authors also studied Helleborus viridis L., which has a light-green perianth at flowering time, and found post-anthesis chlorophyll levels (expressed per leaf area) of about one-half the values measured in mature leaves.



Fig. 3 Concentration dynamics of chlorophylls (squares),  $\beta$ -carotene (circles), and xanthophylls (triangles) during the life cycle of the Christmas rose perianth. Black symbols refer to intact flowers with developing fruit, plain symbols to flowers which were depistillated before anthesis, when the bud was about 25 mm long. Pigments were identified and quantified by HPLC. The values presented are arithmetic means of three independent analyses  $\pm$  standard deviations.

Photosynthetic activity in green Christmas rose sepals was confirmed by cytochemical studies (photooxidation of 3,3'-diaminobenzidine) which specifically detect photosystem I (Salopek-Sondi *et al.* 2000). For photosystem II, the light-harvesting pigment-protein complex was isolated and identified immunochemically. Comparison of the amounts of this protein in green sepals and in mature leaves afforded about the same ratios as for chlorophyll levels (Salopek-Sondi *et al.* 2000).

The determination of photosynthetic capacities gave similar results. Under high-light conditions (quantitative parameters not available), oxygen production per gram fresh weight in green sepals was about 25% of that in mature leaves (Salopek-Sondi et al. 2000). Aschan and Pfanz (2003) determined the photon flux density optimal for photosynthesis in the sepals (600 µmol/m<sup>2</sup>/s) and, under these conditions, measured electron transport rates of about 60% of those in mature leaves. These values are at the upper end of the range found for other flowers with chlorophyll-containing perianths. For instance, the inner tepals of snow-drops (Galanthus nivalis L.), which bear intensely green marks, afforded photosynthesis rates around 25% and electron transport rates around 60% of those in mature leaves (Aschan and Pfanz 2006). Comparable photosynthesis rates were measured for the green spots on the white perigon of Leucojum vernum L. (Prebeg et al. 1999). Young inflorescences of the terrestrial orchid Spiranthes cernua (L.) Rich. accomplished one-third of the leaf photosynthesis (Antlfinger and Wendel 1997), while the CO<sub>2</sub> fixation rate in the sepals of Helleborus viridis L. (Aschan et al. 2005) was 20-50% (depending on the  $CO_2$ -concentration), and that of green Cymbidium flowers was 10% (Dueker and Arditti 1968) of the values measured in the respective leaves.

#### IS PHOTOSYNTHETIC ACTIVITY IN CHRISTMAS ROSE SEPALS REQUIRED FOR NORMAL SEED DEVELOPMENT?

It has been postulated many times that floral photosynthesis can provide a significant part of the carbon needed for reproduction (Bazzaz *et al.* 1979; Reekie and Bazzaz 1987; Aschan and Pfanz 2003; Aschan *et al.* 2005; Aschan and Pfanz 2006), but rigorous proof of this plausible hypothesis is notoriously difficult. Circumstantial evidence is, however, quite persuasive.

In fact, before anthesis, the perianth of most flowering plants contains chlorophyll and performs photosynthesis; well-studied examples include the buds of 'Valencia' orange (Vu *et al.* 1985) and *Lilium* sp. (Clement *et al.* 1997a, 1997b). At anthesis, even the medullar cell layers of brightly colored petals may contain chlorophyll, which is

masked by anthocyanins accumulated in the epidermis, as in the corolla of *Petunia hybrida* Vilm. (Weiss *et al.* 1988, 1990), or by light-reflecting intercellular spaces, as in the sepals of white carnations (Vainstein and Sharon 1993). In all these examples, however, the showy parts of the perianth abscise, following pollination. The assimilates they form may thus, at the best, help to cover the energy needs of the flower.

That the assimilates formed in the Christmas rose perianth are used in seed filling is suggested by the fact that most fruit weight is gained after the photosynthetic capacity in the sepals is fully established (Tarkowski et al. 2006). Also, the life-cycle of the flowers is almost complementary to that of the leaves. They survive normal winters, but are often pressed to the ground by snow and covered with debris, and thus no longer fully operative during anthesis. They will then die back around the time when fruit development is initiated. The new generation of leaves starts appearing a few weeks later and is not always fully expanded, at seed maturity (Werner and Ebel 1994). The exact timing depends on the weather. In an exceptionally warm and rainless spring, the overwintering leaves wilted at early anthesis, and replacement appeared well after fruit ripening (unpublished observations). Apart from the stores in the roots, the green perianth thus represented the only source of assimilates. The fact that viable seeds were nevertheless produced, strongly suggests that the fruit-bearing flower can be self-sufficient with respect to its carbon needs. There have so far been few attempts at establishing if this is necessarily so, even when assimilating leaves are present in the same plant. Working with Helleborus foetidus L. flowers (borne in a cluster on top of a leafy stem), Herrera (2005) found an approximately 10% decrease in final seed weight (but no effect on seed number) when he removed the sepals right after pollination. This may be significant in statistical terms, but not in the sense of proving a preponderant role for the green sepals in seed filling. Repeating the same experiment in H. niger did so far not produce easily interpretable results: almost no seed set in one year (Salopek-Sondi et al. 2002), but no difference to the controls in a second run (unpublished results), possibly because leaves were absent in the first, and present in the second experiment. We thus believe that the green sepals are the closest and most reliable, but not necessarily the only, source of assimilates for the developing Christmas rose seeds. This flexibility should be a competitive advantage for a species exposed, during fruit set, to the stressful, ever changing, weather conditions of a South-European winter and early spring.



Fig. 4 Ultrastructure of chloroplasts in the postanthesis perianth of Helleborus niger L. presented for a normal, fruit bearing flower (A), a flower depistillated at the bud stage (B), a depistillated flower treated with 1mM benzyladenine (C), a depistillated flower treated with 1 mM GA<sub>3</sub> (D), a depistillated flower treated with 1 mM indole-3-acetic acid (E). The growth regulators were applied in lanolin. The thylakoid system in chloroplasts from benzyladenine- and GA3-treated depistillated flowers was even better developed than in green, fruit-bearing flowers. Untreated depistillated flowers contained plastids with only sporadic thylakoids and large plastoglobules, this general picture did not substantially change following auxin treatment. The length of the bars corresponds to 0.5 µm.

#### IS FLORAL PHOTOSYNTHESIS IN THE CHRISTMAS ROSE 'SINK- REGULATED'?

As early as 1868, Boussingault proposed that there is crosstalk between photosynthetically active and assimilate-requiring tissues. In a recent review on this subject, Paul and Foyer (2001) defined source-sink interactions as a highly integrated network, in which information on the carbon and nitrogen status of any plant tissue interacts with phytohormone-mediated pathways and redox signals. In fertilized Christmas rose flowers, the fruit are developing into an, increasingly demanding, 'sink', while 'source' tissues are simultaneously forming in the perianth. A plausible question to ask is thus: what happens to the sepals when the pistils are *not* pollinated?

Such flowers were occasionally found in natural Christmas rose populations following cold and rainy springs. They appeared to survive about as long as their fertilized neighbors, but the pistils remained at the size they had at anthesis and, more importantly, the sepals turned yellowish, sometimes mixed with a bit of green, but never became as brightly green as in seed-bearing flowers.

In an attempt to reproduce these effects under controlled conditions, we removed the pistils before budopening. These 'depistillated' flowers also survived about as long as neighboring, intact, flowers of the same age, but the sepals did not pass through a complete greening process (Salopek-Sondi et al. 2000). In quantitative terms, this is shown in **Fig. 3**. Chlorophyll,  $\beta$ -carotene, and xanthophyll levels were not affected to exactly the same extent, but, for all three pigment classes, the difference to the seed-bearing controls was obvious, in particular, when taking into account that the data are presented on a logarithmic scale. In addition to staying pale, depistillated flowers unfolded more slowly and eventually remained bell-shaped, with spreading angles as low as 60° (Salopek-Sondi et al. 2002). Also, the growth of the flower scape slowed down substantially, after pistil removal - in intact flowers of the same age, its elongation continued at a fast rate.

Only some of the other species with persisting, regreening sepals were tested for survival of unpollinated or depistillated flowers. In the orchids belonging to this group (*Cleisostoma koordersii* Rolfe, *C. latifolium* Lindl., *Listera ovata* R. Br., *Dendrobium antennatum* Lindl., *Phalaenopsis violacea* Hort. ex H. Witte, *P. cornu-cervi* Blume & Rchb. f., *Promenaea* sp., *Epidendrum macrochilum* Hook.) unpollinated flowers aborted right after anthesis (van Doorn 1997). This was also reported to happen to the spathe of *Zantedeschia aethiopica* Spreng. when the spadix bearing the developing fruit was removed (Pais 1972).

#### CAN PLANT HORMONE TREATMENT SUBSTITUTE FOR THE ROLE OF DEVELOPING CHRISTMAS ROSE FRUIT?

As removal of the pistils at the bud stage redirects the life cycle of a Christmas rose flower, its normal development must be controlled by signals originating in the developing seeds. Fruit tissues are generally known as rich sources of plant hormones (Bearder 1980; van Staden 1983). We thus tested three groups of plant hormones which might be released by developing Helleborus fruit: cytokinins [N<sup>6</sup>-benzyladenine (BA), trans-zeatin (Z), trans-zeatin riboside (ZR), dihydrozeatin (DZ), dihydrozeatin riboside (DZR),  $N^6$ -( $\Delta^2$ -isopentenyl)adenine (iP),  $N^6$ -( $\Delta^2$ -isopentenyl)adenine riboside (iPR)], gibberellins [GA<sub>3</sub>, GA<sub>4</sub>, GA<sub>7</sub>], and auxins [indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), 4-chloroindole-3-acetic acid (4-Cl-IAA)]. They were applied in lanolin, in concentrations ranging from 0.01 to 10 mmol/kg (0.01 to 10 mM), to the inner surfaces of the sepals of freshly opened flowers, which had been depistillated at the bud stage. When fruitbearing flowers of the same age were two to three weeks before seed ripening, the hormone-treated depistillated flowers were monitored for 1) sepal greening, 2) sepal spreading, and 3) elongation of the flower scape.

The effects on perianth greening were obvious. In general appearance, the sepals of depistillated flowers treated with 1 mM BA, Z and ZR were barely distinguishable from those of fruit-bearing flowers of the same age. The gibberellins tested were comparably effective – the auxins were not. Quantitative evaluation of pigment levels was not attempted, in this case, because the lanolin used as a rainproof hormone carrier would have interfered with the extraction and chromatographic separation. Ultrastructural studies (Salopek-Sondi *et al.* 2002) revealed, however, that cytokinin and gibberellin treatment increased the number of plastids per cell and, at the same time, promoted their metamorphosis, from leucoplasts at anthesis, to chloroplasts with abundant grana thylakoids as indicators of strong photosynthetic activity (**Fig. 4**).

The effects on sepal spreading and scape elongation were less conspicuous because both processes were already well advanced (**Fig. 2**) when the sepals were wide enough apart to permit application of a hormone paste to their inner surfaces. Still, careful comparison of the spreading angles before and after hormone application strongly suggested concentration and structure-dependent cytokinin effects (for details see Salopek-Sondi *et al.* 2002). The ribosides tested (ZR, DZR, iPR) appeared to be more effective than the corresponding free bases. 0.1 mM ZR, 1 mM Z, and 10 mM iPR increased the spreading angle of depistillated flowers to about the same level as in fruit-bearing flowers which was, in this particular experiment, about 20° larger than in untreated depistillated controls. GA<sub>3</sub> (1 and 10 mM) had about the same effect. Auxins caused the tips of the sepals to close



#### Developmental stage

**Fig. 5 Cytokinin dynamics during the life cycle of a Christmas rose flower.** The developmental stages monitored were: I, anthesis female phase; II, anthesis, male phase; III, initial perianth greening; IV, advanced perianth greening; V, perianth greening complete; VI, two to three weeks before seed ripening. The data points shown are arithmetic means (n = 6-10)  $\pm$  standard errors. They are presented by the following symbols: circles, free bases; squares, ribosides; triangles, riboside monophosphates; diamonds, *O*-glucosides; stars, riboside *O*-glucosides. The concentration of 9-glucosides was less than 0.06 pmol/g f. wt. except, in the fruit, for Z9G in stages IV – VI (0.21  $\pm$  0.01, 0.76  $\pm$  0.22 and 3.30  $\pm$  0.92 pmol/g f. wt.) and DZ9G in stage VI (0.29  $\pm$  0.04 pmol/g f. wt.). The iP levels in the sepals remained within the same general range, throughout the period monitored, but the results for stages III – V were not reproducible enough to be shown as definite data points.

by up to 20°, instead of spreading.

For elongation of the flower scape, only the effects of 10 mM GA<sub>3</sub> and 10 mM 4-Cl-IAA were statistically significant. In all other treatments, the response was obscured by sample variability, and more conclusive experiments are required. Auxin(s) and gibberellin(s) have been repeatedly implicated in the elongation of flower scapes (Kaldewey 1957; Hanks and Rees 1975; Izhaki *et al.* 1996). The role of gibberellins is corroborated by the fact that paclobutrazol (0.1 to 10 mM), as an inhibitor of gibberellin biosynthesis, inhibited scape elongation in Christmas rose flowers.

The range of hormone concentrations tested (0.01 to 10 mM) was much higher than plausible levels of endogenous growth regulators, but published data (Kaldewey 1957; Ross *et al.* 2000) indicate that this is necessary because hormones supplied in lanolin are taken up at very slow rates.

#### ENDOGENOUS PHYTOHORMONES

#### Cytokinins

As the application of cytokinins to the sepals of depistillated flowers mimicked some of the correlative signals released by the fruit developing in intact flowers, the concentration dynamics of endogenous cytokinins was of particular interest. After preliminary studies by HPLC (Salopek-Sondi *et al.* 2002), collaboration with the Plant Science Center in Umeå (Sweden) and the Laboratory of Growth Regulators in Olomouc (Czech Republic) permitted the use of mass spectroscopic techniques. Z, DZ, iP and their ribosides could be identified by full-scan mass spectra (as completely *O*-propionylated derivatives; Tarkowski *et al.* 2006). A protocol based on immunochromatography and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry-single ion monitoring also revealed the presence of the corresponding *O*-glucosides and riboside monophosphates, while 9-glucosides were only detected in some developmental stages, in very small amounts. The presence of *cis*-zeatin and aromatic cytokinins could not be conclusively shown. Cytokinin quantification was accomplished by isotope dilution, using deuterated internal standards. The results are summarized in **Fig. 5**.

The overall cytokinin levels in the carpels increased dramatically during early fruit development (while the sepals were going through the greening process). Riboside monophosphates (iPRMP, ZRMP, DZRMP) peaked first, followed by the ribosides ZR and DZR, while the free bases, Z and DHZ (but *not* iP), were most abundant in the most advanced stage analyzed (2-3 weeks before seed ripening). At anthesis, DZ-type cytokinins were slightly more abundant than their zeatin analogs, but, during fruit development, this proportion was inverted, with Z and derivatives attaining up to seven times higher concentrations. Zeatin type cytokinins were first isolated from immature corn seeds (Letham 1963, 1973) and appear to be abundant in developing fruits and seeds of other plant species as well (Letham 1978; Goodwin 1978). Recently studied examples include chickpea (Emery et al. 1998), white lupine (Emery et al. 2000), kiwi fruit (Lewis et al. 1996), and wheat (Lee et al. 1989; Banowetz et al. 1999).

The cytokinin dynamics shown in Fig. 5 would be in accord with a biosynthetic pathway including iPRMP as a key intermediate (Sakakibara 2004). This implies the assumption that these cytokinins are produced in situ. In contrast to classical concepts (Letham 1994), recent research, such as hormone analyses in wheat ears cultured in vitro (Lee et al. 1989) and expression studies for genes of cytokinin biosynthesis (Miyawaki et al. 2004), has established fruit tissues as important sites of cytokinin formation. Also, it has long been assumed that only the free cytokinin bases are biologically active. This concept had to be abandoned when it was recently discovered that plants contain several cytokinin receptors, some of which also bind ribosides and riboside monophosphates (Maxwell and Kieber 2004; Spíchal et al. 2004; Yonekura-Sakakibara et al. 2004; Romanov et al. 2006). As long as the specific situation in Christmas rose flowers has not been clarified, it is difficult to relate the concentration dynamics of individual cytokinins to narrowly defined biochemical events. However, the overlap of cytokinin accumulation and more general patterns in seed and perianth development is at least very suggestive.

Two to three weeks before seed ripening, about 80% of the fruit cytokinins, but only 30% of the overall fruit weight, were in the seeds (Tarkowski et al. 2006). Their cytokinin concentrations must thus be even higher than represented by the data shown in Fig. 5. In other species, such as cereal grains (Morris 1997; Banowetz et al. 1999; Yang et al. 2002), white lupine (Emery et al. 2000) and chickpeas (Emery et al. 1998), cytokinin levels rise dramatically, after fertilization, to drop abruptly during the late ripening stage. This cytokinin pulse is usually correlated with cell division rates in the endosperm (Morris 1997; Yang et al. 2002), in accord with the role of these hormones in the cell cycle (Roef and van Onckelen 2004). It should, however, be remembered that, in these species, the embryo completes its morphogenetic phase (until the cotyledonary stage) at about the same time. In Helleborus seeds, both endosperm growth and embryo differentiation start around the time when the sepals begin turning green, but, as long as the seeds are connected to the mother plant, embryo development does not progress beyond an early cotyledonary stage (Niimi et al. 2006; Tarkowski et al. 2006). This rationalizes the constantly high cytokinin levels throughout fruit maturation, because experiments in *in vitro* cultures indicate that such high concentrations are required for embryo differentiation up to the cotyledonary stage (Nomura and Komamine 1985; Sagare et al. 2000; Tokuji and Kuriyama 2003). An alternative, or additional, explanation for the specific cytokinin dynamics of Christmas rose seeds would be a prolonged

seed-filling period, as cytokinins increase the sink strength for assimilates (Paul and Foyer 2001).

Before perianth greening, cytokinin levels in the sepals and in the fruit were of the same order of magnitude. When overall fruit cytokinins increased precipitously, their pooled concentrations in the sepals did not pass through drastic changes. Only iPRMP peaked transiently, when perianth greening was initiated. The changes were less pronounced than in the developing fruit, but occurred in the same time frame. It is thus tempting to conclude that iPRMP is the cytokinin transported from the fruit to the perianth to induce the greening response, but additional confirmative evidence for such a translocation is clearly required. Indisputably, developing fruit contain sufficient amounts of cytokinins to supply the perianth.

To verify the effect of developing seeds on cytokinin levels in the sepals, depistillated and unpollinated flowers were analyzed (Tarkowski et al. 2006). The seedless flowers contained no riboside monophosphates, and the levels of most other cytokinins were also smaller than in the sepals of fruit-bearing flowers of the same physiological age (i.e. two to three weeks before seed ripening). The seedless flowers also weighed less and did not pass through a complete greening process. This indicates that cytokinins play a part in the normal life cycle of the perianth including the greening response following fertilization. A similar conclusion was reached for the spathe of Zantedeschia aethiopica Spreng. which also changes colors, from white to green, during fruit ripening. This did not occur (and the spathe died) when the developing fruit were removed, but their effect could be mimicked by applying a kinetin solution (Pais 1972). When these experiments were done, the analytical methods available were not yet sensitive enough to permit detailed insight into the cytokinin dynamics in the regreening spathe. The developing fruit were, however, shown to be a rich source of cytokinins of which 6-(o-hydroxybenzylamino)-9- $\beta$ -D-ribofuranosylpurine (o-topolin riboside) and 6-(o-hydroxybenzylamino)-2-methylthio-9-β-D-ribofuranosylpurine were isolated and identified by chemical methods (Chaves das Neves and Pais 1980a, 1980b).

So far, the impact of cytokinins on the photosynthetic apparatus has mostly been investigated in model systems based on the prevention of chlorophyll loss as one of the symptoms of senescence (Richmond and Lang 1957; Medford et al. 1989; Gan and Amasino 1995), an analogy which now appears less straightforward than originally believed (Werner et al. 2001; Ananieva et al. 2004). The reverse process, cytokinin-mediated conversion of leucoplasts into chloroplasts (Parthier 1979) was, for instance, observed in a line of tobacco callus, which grew well without external cytokinin, but nevertheless required it for the formation of chloroplasts when the, normally dark-grown, tissue was transferred to the light (Stetler and Laetsch 1965). Greening processes of this kind are akin to what happens in the Christmas rose perianth, after fertilization, when the leucoplasts present at anthesis develop into chloroplasts (Salopek-Sondi et al. 2000, 2002).

#### Gibberellins

Gibberellins of seed origin are also likely to be involved in the coordination of fruit and perianth development, but their identification and quantification is so far not complete. Preliminary evidence by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry-selected ion monitoring suggests the presence of  $GA_1$ and  $GA_4$  in the seeds and, at least  $GA_1$  (in much smaller amounts), in the sepals. Developing fruit thus appear to have the capacity to supply gibberellins to the perianth. More detailed studies are in progress.

#### THE CHRISTMAS ROSE AS A MODEL PLANT

The Christmas rose is well-suited for experimental work on flower biology. All the elements of their large flowers are accessible, surgical operations are easily performed, and a single flower is, in many cases, sufficient for pigment, hormone, and related biochemical analyses. In particular, the fruit-bearing Christmas rose flower is a simple system for studying developmental aspects of source-sink interactions. The metamorphosis of the perianth to a photosynthetic organ is induced by signals released by the fruit developing in the same flower, and there is so far no evidence for interference by signals originating elsewhere in the plant. As soon as photosynthesis is initiated, the perianth becomes the closest source of assimilates for use in seed filling, but it is difficult to exclude any 'help' by the leaves and by mobilization of resources stored in the roots. Experiments with isolated seed-bearing flowers could clarify the situation.

Admittedly, the genetics of *H. niger* is by no means defined as completely as for more customary model plants, such as Arabidopsis thaliana. As far as the genes involved in flower development are concerned, we should, however, be able to learn from the records of plant breeders who have done at least 150 years of crossing and selecting, to bring trends such as flower size, shape and color, the length of the flower scape, and the timing of anthesis, in line with horticultural need and fashion (Mathew 1989; Rice and Strangman 1993). Understanding the signaling mechanisms involved in flower development may, in turn, pave the way for more targeted breeding strategies aimed at improvement of existing varieties. Other horticulturally important topics, which would profit from more detailed information on H. *niger* physiology, would be seed germination, which is still incompletely understood (Lockhart and Albrecht 1987; Niimi et al. 2006) and in vitro propagation (Seyring 2002).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Research on Helleborus physiology was supported by grants (currently no. 098-0982913-2829) awarded by the Croatian Ministry of Science, Education and Sports (official name changing) and by joint research agreements with the Republic of Slovenia. We are grateful to Maja Kovač (Institute of Biology, Ljubljana, Slovenia), who helped us to get started, to Snježana Mihaljević, Nikola Ljubešić and Tatjana Prebeg (our Institute) who looked into developmental processes at the microscopic and ultrastructural levels, to Petr Tarkowski, Danuše Tarkowská, Ondřej Novák and Miroslav Strnad (Plant Hormone Laboratory, Olomouc, Czech Republic) who spent lots of time on the cytokinin analyses, to Göran Sandberg (Plant Science Centre, Umeå, Sweden) who made available advanced equipment for mass spectrometry, and to Jocelyn A. Ozga, Dennis M. Reinecke and Belay T. Ayele (University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada) who made it possible to look into the gibberellin physiology.

#### REFERENCES

- Ananieva K, Malbeck J, Kamínek M, van Staden J (2004) Changes in endogenous cytokinin levels in cotyledons of *Cucurbita pepo* (zucchini) during natural and dark-induced senescence. *Physiologia Plantarum* 122, 133-142
- Antlfinger AE, Wendel LF (1997) Reproductive effort and floral photosynthesis in Spiranthes cernua (Orchidaceae). American Journal of Botany 84, 769-780
- Aschan G, Pfanz H (2003) Non-foliar photosynthesis a strategy of additional carbon acquisition. *Flora* 198, 81-97
- Aschan G, Pfanz H (2006) Why Snowdrop (*Galanthus nivalis* L.) tepals have green marks? *Flora* 201, 623-632
- Aschan G, Pfanz H, Vodnik D, Batič F (2005) Photosynthetic performance of vegetative and reproductive structures of green hellebore (*Helleborus viridis* L. agg.). *Photosynthetica* 43, 55-64
- Banowetz GM, Ammar K, Chen DD (1999) Postanthesis temperatures influence cytokinin accumulation and wheat kernel weight. *Plant Cell and Envi*ronment 22, 309-316
- Bazzaz FA, Carlson RW, Harper JL (1979) Contribution to reproductive effort by photosynthesis of flower and fruits. *Nature* 279, 554-555
- Bearder JR (1980) Plant hormones and other growth substances their background, structures and occurrence. In: MacMillan J (Ed) Hormonal Regulation of Development I. Encyclopedia of Plant Physiology (Vol 9), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 1-112
- **Boussingault JB** (1868) *Agronomie, Chimie Agricole et Physiologie* (2<sup>nd</sup> Edn), Mallet Bachelier, Paris, pp 236-312
- Chaves das Neves HJ, Pais MSS (1980a) Identification of a spathe regreening

factor in Zantedeschia aethiopica. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 95, 1387-1392

- Chaves das Neves HJ, Pais MSS (1980b) A new cytokinin from the fruits of Zantedeschia aethiopica. Tetrahedron Letters 21, 4387-4390
- Clement C, Mischler P, Burrus M, Audran JC (1997a) Characteristics of the photosynthetic apparatus and CO<sub>2</sub>-fixation in the flower bud of *Lilium*. I. Corolla. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* **158**, 794-800
- Clement C, Mischler P, Burrus M, Audran JC (1997b) Characteristics of the photosynthetic apparatus and CO<sub>2</sub>-fixation in the flower bud of *Lilium*. II. Anther. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 158, 801-810
- Damboldt J, Zimmermann W (1965) Helleborus. In: Hegi G (Ed) Illustrierte Flora von Mittel-Europa (Vol 3, Pt 3), Carl Hanser Verlag, München, pp 91-107
- Dinan L, Savchenko T, Whiting P (2002) Chemotaxonomic significance of ecdysteroid agonists and antagonists in the Ranunculaceae: phytoecdysteroids in the genera *Helleborus* and *Hepatica*. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology* 30, 171-182
- Dueker J, Arditti J (1968) Photosynthetic <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> fixation by green Cymbidium (Orchidaceae) flowers. Plant Physiology 43, 130-132
- Emery RJN, Leport L, Barton JE, Turner NC, Atkins CA (1998) cis-Isomers of cytokinins predominate in chickpea seeds throughout their development. *Plant Physiology* **117**, 1515-1523
- Emery RJN, Ma Q, Atkins CA (2000) The forms and sources of cytokinins in developing white lupine seeds and fruits. *Plant Physiology* 123, 1593-1604
- Gan S, Amasino RM (1995) Inhibition of leaf senescence by autoregulated production of cytokinin. *Science* 270, 1986-1988
- Goodwin PB (1978) Phytohormones and fruit growth. In: Letham DS, Goodwin PB, Higgins TJV (Eds) Phytohormones and Related Compounds A Comprehensive Treatise (Vol 2), Elsevier/North Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam, Oxford, New York, pp 175-214
- Grönegress P (1974) The structure of chromoplasts and their conversion to chloroplasts. *Journal de Microscopie (Paris)* **19**, 183-192
- Hanks GR, Rees AR (1975) Scape elongation in narcissus: the influence of floral organs. New Phytologist 75, 605-612
- Herrera CM (2005) Post-floral perianth functionality: contribution of persistent sepals to seed development in *Helleborus foetidus* (Ranunculaceae). *American Journal of Botany* 92, 1486-1491
- Herrera CM, Sánchez-Lafuente AM, Medrano M, Guitián J, Cerdá X, Rey P (2001) Geographical variation in autonomous self-pollination levels unrelated to pollination service in *Helleborus foetidus (Ranunculaceae)*. American Journal of Botany 88, 1025-1032
- Izhaki A, Shoseyov O, Weiss D (1996) Temporal, spatial and hormonal regulation of the S-adenosylmethionine synthetase gene in petunia. *Physiologia Plantarum* 97, 90-94
- Kaldewey H (1957) Wuchsstoffbildung und Nutationsbewegungen von Fritillaria meleagris L. im Laufe der Vegetationsperiode. Planta 49, 300-344
- Ketsa S, Rugkong A (1999) Senescence of *Dendrobium* 'Pompadour' flowers following pollination. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 74, 608-613
- Lee B, Martin P, Bangerth F (1989) The effect of sucrose on the levels of abscisic acid, indoleacetic acid and zeatin/zeatin riboside in wheat ears growing in liquid culture. *Physiologia Plantarum* **77**, 73-80
- Letham DS (1963) Zeatin, a factor inducing cell division isolated from Zea mays. Life Sciences 2, 569-573
- Letham DS (1973) Cytokinins from Zea mays. Phytochemistry 12, 2445-2455
- Letham DS (1978) Cytokinins. In: Letham DS, Goodwin PB, Higgins TJV (Eds) Phytohormones and Related Compounds – A Comprehensive Treatise (Vol 1), Elsevier/North Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam, Oxford, New York, pp 205-263
- Letham DS (1994) Cytokinins as phytohormones sites of biosynthesis, translocation, and function of translocated cytokinins. In: Mok DS, Mok MC (Eds) *Cytokinins. Chemistry, Activity, and Function*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, pp 57-80
- Lewis DH, Burge GK, Schmierer DM, Jameson PE (1996) Cytokinins and fruit development in the kiwifruit (*Actinidia deliciosa*). I. Changes during fruit development. *Physiologia Plantarum* 98, 179-186
- Lockhart SJ, Albrecht ML (1987) Notes on germination of *Helleborus niger* L. (Ranunculaceae). Transactions of the Kansas Academy of Science 90, 96-102
- Martinis Z (1973) Helleborus. In: Horvatić S, Trinajstić I (Eds) Analitička flora Jugoslavije (Vol 1), Institut za botaniku Sveučilišta u Zagrebu, Zagreb, Croatia, pp 231-243
- Mathew B (1989) *Hellebores*, Alpine Garden Society, Pershore, Worcestershire, UK, 180 pp
- Maxwell BB, Kieber JJ (2004) Cytokinin signal transduction. In: Davies PJ (Ed) Plant Hormones. Biosynthesis, Signal Transduction, Action, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 321-349
- McLewin W, Mathew B (2002) Helleborus viridis. The Plantsman 1, 150-153
- McLewin W, Mathew B, Thomsen M (2006) *Helleborus bocconei* and the hellebores of Italy. Two new species described following a review of Italian hellebores. *The Plantsman* 5, 228-237
- Medford JI, Horgan R, El-Sawi Z, Klee HJ (1989) Alteration of endogenous cytokinins in transgenic plants using a chimeric isopentenyl transferase gene. *The Plant Cell* 1, 403-413

- Miyawaki K, Matsumoto-Kitano M, Kakimoto T (2004) Expression of cytokinin biosynthetic isopentenyltransferase genes in *Arabidopsis*: tissue specificity and regulation by auxin, cytokinin, and nitrate. *The Plant Journal* 37, 128-138
- Morris RO (1997) Hormonal regulation of seed development. In: Larkins BA, Vasil IK (Eds) Cellular and Molecular Biology of Plant Seed Development, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 117-148
- Niimi Y, Han D-S, Abe S (2006) Temperatures affecting embryo development and seed germination of Christmas rose (*Helleborus niger*) after sowing. *Scientia Horticulturae* 107, 292-296
- Nomura K, Komamine A (1985) Identification and isolation of single cells that produce somatic embryos at a high frequency in a carrot suspension culture. *Plant Physiology* **79**, 988-991
- O'Neill S (1997) Pollination regulation of flower development. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 48, 547-574
- Orzáez D, Blay R, Granell A (1999) Programme of senescence in petals and carpels of *Pisum sativum* L. flowers and its control by ethylene. *Planta* 208, 220-226
- **Orzáez D, Granell A** (1997) The plant homologue of the defender against apoptotic death gene is down-regulated during senescence of flower petals. *FEBS Letters* **404**, 275-278
- Pais MSS (1972) Sur le reverdissement de la spathe de Zantedeschia aethiopica au cours de la frutification. Portugaliae Acta Biologica, Serie A: Morfologia, Fisiologia, Genética e Biologia Geral 12, 101-121
- Palandri M (1967) Modificazioni ultrastrutturali presentate dai plastidi della spata nel corso dell'inverdimento in Spathiphyllum wallisii Regel. Caryologia 20, 273-285
- Panavas T, Walker E, Rubinstein B (1998) Possible involvement of abscisic acid in senescence of daylily petals. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 49, 1987-1997
- Parthier B (1979) The role of phytohormones (cytokinins) in chloroplast development. Biochemie und Physiologie der Pflanzen 174, 173-214
- Paul MJ, Foyer CH (2001) Sink regulation of photosynthesis. Journal of Experimental Botany 52, 1383-1400
- Prebeg T, Ljubešić N, Wrischer M (1999) Structural and physiological characteristics of the coloured spots on the *Leucojum* perigon. *Phyton* 39, 75-78
- Ravnik V (1969) Nekaj pripomb k morfologiji in sistematiki skupine Helleborus niger s. lat. v Sloveniji. Biološki Vestnik 17, 43-58
- Reekie EG, Bazzaz FA (1987) Reproductive effort in plants. 1. Carbon allocation to reproduction. *American Naturalist* **129**, 876-896
- Rice G, Strangman E (1993) The Gardener's Guide to Growing Hellebores, Timber Press, Portland, Oregon, USA, 160 pp
- Richmond AE, Lang A (1957) Effect of kinetin on protein content and survival of detached Xanthium leaves. *Science* **125**, 650-651
- Roef L, van Onckelen H (2004) Cytokinin regulation of the cell division cycle. In: Davies PJ (Ed) *Plant Hormones. Biosynthesis, Signal Transduction, Action,* Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 241-261
- Rogers HJ (2006) Programmed cell death in floral organs: how and why do flowers die? *Annals of Botany* **97**, 309-315
- Romanov GA, Lomin SN, Schmülling T (2006) Biochemical characteristics and ligand-binding properties of *Arabidopsis* cytokinin receptor AHK3 compared to CRE1/AHK4 as revealed by a direct binding assay. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57, 4051-4058
- **Ross JJ, O'Neill DP, Smith JJ, Kerckhoffs HJ, Elliott RC** (2000) Evidence that auxin promotes gibberellin A<sub>1</sub> biosynthesis in pea. *The Plant Journal* **21**, 547-552
- Rubinstein B (2000) Regulation of cell death in flower petals. *Plant Molecular Biology* 44, 303-318
- Sagare AP, Lee YL, Lin TC, Chen CC, Tsay HS (2000) Cytokinin-induced somatic embryogenesis and plant regeneration in *Corydalis yanhusuo* (Fumariaceae) – a medicinal plant. *Plant Science* 160, 139-147
- Sakakibara H (2004) Cytokinin biosynthesis and metabolism. In: Davies PJ (Ed) Plant Hormones. Biosynthesis, Signal Transduction, Action, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 95-114
- Salopek-Sondi B, Kovač M, Ljubešić N, Magnus V (2000) Fruit initiation in Helleborus niger L. triggers chloroplast formation and photosynthesis in the perianth. Journal of Plant Physiology 157, 357-364
- Salopek-Sondi B, Kovač M, Prebeg T, Magnus V (2002) Developing fruit direct post-floral morphogenesis in *Helleborus niger* L. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 1949-1957
- Schiffner V (1891) Monographia Hellebororum. Kritische Beschreibung aller bisher bekannt gewordenen Formen der Gattung Helleborus. Nova Acta Academiae Cesareae Leopoldino-Carolinae Germanicae Naturae Curiosorum 56, 1-198
- Seyring M (2002) In vitro cloning of Helleborus niger. Plant Cell Reports 20, 895-900
- Sitte P (1974) Plastiden-Metamorphose und Chromoplasten bei Chrysosple-

nium. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenphysiologie 73, 243-265

- Spíchal L, Raková NY, Riefler M, Mizuno T, Romanov GA, Strnad M, Schmülling T (2004) Two cytokinin receptors of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, CRE1/AHK4 and AHK3, differ in their ligand specificity in a bacterial assay. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 45, 1299-1305
- Stetler DA, Laetsch WM (1965) Kinetin-induced chloroplast maturation in cultures of tobacco tissue. *Science* 149, 1387-1388
- Sun H, McLewin W, Fay MF (2001) Molecular phylogeny of *Helleborus (Ra-nunculaceae)*, with an emphasis on the East Asian-Mediterranean disjunction. *Taxon* 50, 1001-1018
- Šušek A, Ivančić A, Lemoine MC, Guillemin JP, Caneill J, Šiško M, Janžeković F, Praprotnik L (2005) Variability of Christmas rose (*Helleborus niger* L.) populations and its potential use in genetic breeding. Acta Biologica Cracoviensia Series Botanica 47, 129-135
- Tarkowski P, Tarkowská D, Novák O, Mihaljević S, Magnus V, Salopek-Sondi B (2006) Cytokinins in the perianth, carpels, and developing fruit of *Helleborus niger L. Journal of Experimental Botany* 57, 2237-2247
- Thomas H, Ougham HJ, Wagstaff C, Stead AD (2003) Defining senescence and death. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 54, 1127-1132
- Tokuji Y, Kuriyama K (2003) Involvement of gibberellin and cytokinin in the formation of embryogenic cell clumps in carrot (*Daucus carota*). Journal of Plant Physiology 160, 133-141
- Vainstein A, Sharon R (1993) Biogenesis of petunia and carnation corolla chloroplasts – changes in the abundance of nuclear and plastid-encoded photosynthesis-specific gene products during flower development. *Physiologia Plantarum* 89, 192-198
- van Doorn WG (1997) Effects of pollination on floral attraction and longevity. Journal of Experimental Botany 48, 1615-1622
- van Doorn WG (2002a) Effect of ethylene on flower abscission: a survey. Annals of Botany 89, 689-693
- van Doorn WG (2002b) Does ethylene treatment mimic the effects of pollination on floral lifespan and attractiveness? *Annals of Botany* 89, 375-383
- van Doorn WG, Stead AD (1997) Abscission of flowers and floral parts. Journal of Experimental Botany 48, 821-837
- van Doorn WG, Woltering EJ (2004) Senescence and programmed cell death: substance or semantics? *Journal of Experimental Botany* 55, 2147-2153
- van Doorn WG, Woltering EJ (2005) Many ways to exit? Cell death categories in plants. *Trends in Plant Science* 10, 117-122
- van Staden J (1983) Seeds and cytokinins. Physiologia Plantarum 58, 340-346
- Vesprini JL, Pacini E (2000) Breeding systems in two species of the genus Helleborus (Ranunculaceae). Plant Biosystems 134, 193-197
- Vesprini JL, Pacini E (2005) Temperature-dependent floral longevity in two Helleborus species. Plant Systematics and Evolution 252, 63-70
- Vu JVC, Yelenosky G, Bausher MG (1985) Photosynthetic activity in the flower buds of "Valencia" orange (*Citrus sinesis* (L.) Osbeck). *Plant Physiology* 78, 420-423
- Wagstaff C, Leverentz MK, Griffiths G, Thomas B, Chanasut U, Stead AD, Rogers HJ (2002) Cystein protease gene expression and proteolytic activity during senescence of *Alstroemeria* petals. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 233-240
- Weiss MR (1991) Floral color changes as cues for pollinators. *Nature* **354**, 227-229
- Weiss D, Schönfeld M, Halevy AH (1988) Photosynthetic carbon fixation in corollas of *Petunia*. *Plant Physiology* 87, 666-670
- Weiss D, Shomer-Ilan A, Vainstein A, Halevy AH (1990) Photosynthetic carbon fixation in the corollas of *Petunia hybrida*. *Physiologia Plantarum* 78, 345-350
- Werner K, Ebel F (1994) Life-history of the genus *Helleborus* L. (Ranunculaceae). *Flora* 189, 97-130
- Werner T, Motyka V, Strnad M, Schmülling T (2001) Regulation of plant growth by cytokinin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 98, 10487-10492
- Wu H, Cheung AY (2000) Programmed cell death in plant reproduction. Plant Molecular Biology 44, 267-281
- Xu Y, Hanson MR (2000) Programmed cell death during pollination-induced petal senescence in petunia. *Plant Physiology* **122**, 1323-1334
- Yang J, Zhang J, Huang Z, Wang Z, Zhu Q, Liu L (2002) Correlation of cytokinin levels in the endosperms and roots with cell number and cell division activity during endosperm development in rice. *Annals of Botany* **90**, 369-377
- Yonekura-Sakakibara K, Kojima M, Yamaya T, Sakakibara H (2004) Molecular characterization of cytokinin-responsive histidine kinases in maize. Differential ligand preferences and response to *cis*-zeatin. *Plant Physiology* 134, 1654-1661
- Zonneveld BJM (2001) Nuclear DNA contents of all species of Helleborus (Ranunculaceae) discriminate between species and sectional divisions. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 229, 125-130